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For Alex, Adam, Sonia and Eva,
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Cast of Characters

THE HUNTERS:

Fritz Bauer (1903–1968): A German judge and prosecutor from a secular Jewish family, Bauer spent most of the Nazi era in exile in Denmark and Sweden. Returning to Germany after the war, he provided the Israelis with the key tip that led to the capture of Adolf Eichmann. In the 1960s, he orchestrated the Frankfurt Auschwitz trial.

William Denson (1913–1998): The U.S. Army chief prosecutor at the Dachau trials after the war, which focused on the personnel who ran the death machinery in Dachau, Mauthausen, Buchenwald, and Flossenbürg. He prosecuted 177 people, winning guilty verdicts for all of them. In the end, ninety-seven of them were hanged. But there was controversy about his handling of some of those cases.

Rafi Eitan (1926– ): The Mossad agent who was in charge of the commando unit that kidnapped Adolf Eichmann near his home in Buenos Aires on May 11, 1960.

Benjamin Ferencz (1920– ): At age twenty-seven, Ferencz was the chief prosecutor in what the Associated Press called the “biggest murder trial in history”: the Nuremberg trial of the commanders of the Einsatzgruppen, the special squads that conducted mass killings of Jews, Gypsies, and other civilian “enemies” on the Eastern Front before the killings were shifted to the gas chambers of the camps. All twenty-two defendants were convicted, and thirteen were sentenced to death. Several of the sentences were later reduced, and only four were hanged.

Tuvia Friedman (1922–2011): A Polish Jewish survivor of the Holocaust, Friedman first served in the security forces of the postwar Polish communist regime, seeking revenge against captured Germans and anyone else accused of helping the former occupiers. He then set up the Documentation Center in Vienna, collecting evidence to help convict SS officers and others guilty of war crimes. In 1952, he closed his center down and moved to Israel, where he continued to insist he was on the trail of Eichmann and other war criminals.

Isser Harel (1912–2003): The Mossad chief who succeeded in arranging the kidnapping of Eichmann in Buenos Aires in 1960 and his transport to Israel on a special El Al flight, which led to Eichmann’s trial and execution in Jerusalem.

Elizabeth Holtzman (1941– ): When she became a member of Congress in 1973, the Brooklyn Democrat quickly began looking into charges that many alleged war criminals were living peacefully in the United States. As a member of the House immigration subcommittee and later its chair, she successfully pushed for the creation of the Justice Department’s Office of Special Investigations (OSI) in 1979. OSI led the effort to find, denaturalize, and deport Nazi war criminals.

Beate Klarsfeld (1939– ): A risk taker par excellence, she was the more flamboyant half of the Nazi hunting German-French couple. Her father served in the Wehrmacht and she knew very little about the Third Reich’s legacy until she moved to Paris to work as an au pair and met her future husband, Serge Klarsfeld. In 1968, she famously slapped West German Chancellor Kurt Georg Kiesinger, who had been a member of the Nazi Party. Along with Serge, she also tracked and confronted SS men guilty of deporting Jews and other crimes in occupied France.

Serge Klarsfeld (1935– ): Born into a family of Jews in Romania who then moved to France, he had a strong personal motive to document, publicize, and pursue top Nazis who had been responsible for the deportations and deaths of Jews in France: his father died in Auschwitz. Meticulously gathering incriminating evidence, he publicized the Nazis’ records—and, like his wife, Beate, was not afraid to confront the wartime Nazis directly, ignoring the risks.

Eli Rosenbaum (1955– ): He first joined the Justice Department’s Office of Special Investigations as an intern, and from 1995 to 2010 was its longest-serving director. While serving as general counsel of the World Jewish Congress in 1986, he led the campaign against former U.N. Secretary-General Kurt Waldheim during his campaign for the Austrian presidency. That led to his bitter clash with the man he had once idolized: Simon Wiesenthal.

Allan Ryan (1945– ): From 1980 to 1983, he served as the director of the Justice Department’s Office of Special Investigations, leading the new unit in its early battles to identify and strip Nazi war criminals of their U.S. citizenship.

Jan Sehn (1909–1965): A Polish investigating judge who grew up in a family of German descent, he produced the first detailed account of the history and operation of Auschwitz. He handled the interrogation of Rudolf Höss, the camp’s longest serving commandant, and convinced him to write his memoirs before he was hanged in 1947. He also helped his German counterpart Fritz Bauer by providing testimony for the Frankfurt Auschwitz trial in the 1960s.

Simon Wiesenthal (1908–2005): Born in a small town in Galicia, he survived Mauthausen and other ordeals and became the most famous Nazi hunter, operating out of his Documentation Center in Vienna. While widely credited with tracking down several prominent war criminals, Wiesenthal was sometimes attacked for allegedly embellishing his role and accomplishments, particularly in the hunt for Eichmann. He also clashed with the World Jewish Congress during the Kurt Waldheim controversy.

Efraim Zuroff (1948– ): The founder and director of the Simon Wiesenthal Center’s office in Jerusalem, Zuroff was born in Brooklyn but settled in Israel in 1970. Frequently referred to as the last Nazi hunter, he has mounted highly publicized, controversial campaigns to locate and prosecute surviving concentration camp guards.

THE HUNTED:

Klaus Barbie (1913–1991): Known as “the Butcher of Lyon,” the former Gestapo chief in that French city was responsible for thousands of deaths and personally tortured countless victims. His most prominent victims: Jean Moulin, the hero of the French Resistance, and the forty-four Jewish children who were given shelter in the tiny village of Izieu—and perished in Auschwitz. The Klarsfelds tracked him to Bolivia, waging a long campaign to get him to stand trial in France. Given a life sentence in 1987, he died in prison four years later.

Martin Bormann (1900–1945): Hitler’s personal secretary and head of the Nazi Party Chancellery, he had disappeared from Hitler’s bunker in Berlin after his boss committed suicide on April 30, 1945. While there were reports that he had been killed or committed suicide almost immediately, there were also persistent rumors that he had escaped from the German capital—and even tales of sightings and shootouts in South America and Denmark. In 1972 his purported remains were found at a Berlin construction site, and DNA evidence in 1998 confirmed his identity. The conclusion was that he died on May 2, 1945.

Hermine Braunsteiner (1919–1999): A former guard in the Majdanek and Ravensbrück concentration camps, she was called “Kobyła”—the Polish word for mare—because of her habit of viciously kicking women prisoners. In 1964, Simon Wiesenthal discovered that she had married an American after the war and was living in Queens, New York. He tipped off The New York Times, which ran a story that triggered a lengthy legal battle to strip her of her citizenship. Sent to West Germany, she was given a life sentence in 1981, and released for health reasons in 1996. She died in a nursing home three years later.

Herbert Cukurs (1900–1965): A famed Latvian aviator before World War II, he became known during the German occupation as “the Hangman of Riga,” and was responsible for the killing of about thirty thousand Jews. After the war, he settled in São Paulo, Brazil, where he still flew his own plane and operated a marina. Lured to Montevideo, Uruguay, on February 23, 1965, he was killed by a Mossad hit squad. This was the only known assassination by the Israeli agency of a fugitive war criminal.

John Demjanjuk (1920–2012): From the 1970s until his death in 2012, he was at the center of one of the most complex legal battles of the postwar era, which played out in the United States, Israel, and Germany. The retired autoworker from Cleveland had served as a death camp guard—but initially he was mistaken for “Ivan the Terrible,” a particularly notorious guard in Treblinka. In 2011, a German court found him guilty for serving as a guard in Sobibor, and he died less than a year later. His case set a new precedent for how the German courts could handle the prosecution of the dwindling number of alleged war criminals who were still alive.

Adolf Eichmann (1906–1962): One of the chief architects of the Holocaust who organized the mass deportations of Jews to Auschwitz and other concentration camps, he was kidnapped by Mossad agents in Buenos Aires on May 11, 1960. Tried and condemned to death in Jerusalem, he was hanged on May 31, 1962. Everything about his case generated headlines and controversy, including an impassioned debate about “the banality of evil.”

Aribert Heim (1914–1992): Nicknamed “Dr. Death” because of his gruesome, murderous record while he served as a doctor in Mauthausen, he vanished after the war, prompting highly publicized searches for him up until a few years ago—and fanciful tales that he had been spotted in Latin America or assassinated in California. In fact, as The New York Times and the German TV station ZDF reported in 2009, he had found refuge in Cairo, converted to Islam, and taken the name Tarek Hussein Farid. He died there in 1992.

Rudolf Höss (1900–1947): The longest serving commandant of Auschwitz. He was captured by the British in 1946, testified as a witness in Nuremberg, and then was sent to Poland to stand trial. Jan Sehn, the Polish investigating judge, convinced him to write his autobiography before he was hanged. His descriptions of how he kept making “improvements” in the machinery of death provide some of the most chilling testimony in the vast literature of the Holocaust.

Ilse Koch (1906–1967): The widow of Buchenwald’s first commandant, she was dubbed “the Bitch of Buchenwald” during her trial by the U.S. Army in Dachau that featured lurid testimony about her sexual taunting of prisoners before they were beaten and killed. Combined with stories about lamp shades allegedly made of the skin of those prisoners, her case was probably the most sensational postwar trial. She was sentenced to life in prison, but General Lucius D. Clay reduced her term to four years. A German court gave her another life sentence in 1951, and she committed suicide in prison in 1967.

Kurt Lischka (1909–1989), Herbert Hagen (1913–1999), and Ernst Heinrichsohn (1920–1994): Serge and Beate Klarsfeld targeted these three former SS officers because of their role in deporting Jews from France during the war. All three had been living peacefully in West Germany before the Nazi hunters mounted their campaign to confront them—and, in Lischka’s case, even attempted to kidnap him—in the 1970s. On February 11, 1980, a court in Cologne found them guilty of complicity in the deportation of fifty thousand Jews from France to their deaths, and they received sentences ranging from six to twelve years in prison.

Josef Mengele (1911–1979): The Auschwitz SS doctor known as “the Angel of Death” was particularly infamous because of his medical experiments on twins and other camp inmates, along with his role in the selection of arriving prisoners for the gas chambers. The search for Mengele, who had fled to South America, lasted long after his death. He drowned while swimming off a beach in Brazil in 1979, but his family members kept this secret until his remains were discovered in 1985.

Erich Priebke (1913–2013): This former SS captain had organized the execution of 335 men and boys, including seventy-five Jews, in the Ardeatine Caves near Rome on March 24, 1944, in retaliation for the killing of thirty-three German soldiers earlier. Until 1994, he lived a comfortable life in the Argentine resort city of San Carlos de Bariloche. But then an ABC News team caught up with him, and correspondent Sam Donaldson grilled him for a few minutes on the street. The result: Argentina extradited him to Italy in 1995, and he was sentenced to life in prison in 1998. He was kept under house arrest due to his age and died there in 2013.

Otto Remer (1912–1997): The key player in the aftermath of the July 20, 1944, botched assassination of Hitler, Major Remer was the commander of the Guards Battalion Grossdeutschland in Berlin. Initially prepared to carry out the orders of the plotters, he changed course when he learned Hitler had survived and started arresting the plotters. In 1951, he was the leader of a West German far-right party when he branded the plotters as traitors. Fritz Bauer successfully prosecuted him for defamation in 1952, aiming to prove that the plotters were the true patriots. He was given a three-month sentence and his party was banned, prompting him to flee to Egypt. He returned to West Germany in the 1980s, benefiting from an amnesty, and resumed his right-wing agitation. Facing new charges of inciting hatred and racism, he moved to Spain in 1994, where he died three years later.

Arthur Rudolph (1906–1996): Part of the team of German rocket scientists who were brought to the United States after World War II, he developed the Saturn V rocket, which sent the first astronauts to the moon. But Eli Rosenbaum of the Justice Department’s Office of Special Investigations pressured him to give up his U.S. citizenship and leave the country in 1984 based on evidence that he had worked thousands of prisoners to death while producing V-2 rockets during the war. He died in Hamburg.

Kurt Waldheim (1918–2007): When the former United Nations secretary-general emerged as the leading candidate in the 1986 Austrian presidential election, new evidence indicated he had hidden a significant chapter of his wartime record—his service in the Balkans on the staff of General Alexander Löhr, who was tried and hanged later in Yugoslavia as a war criminal. The World Jewish Congress mounted an intensive campaign against Waldheim, but he still won the election. Simon Wiesenthal blamed the WJC for the anti-Semitic backlash that ensued, putting the rifts between the Nazi hunters on full display.



Introduction

One of the most famous German films right after the end of World War II was called Die Mörder sind unter uns—“The Murderers Are Among Us.” Susanne Wallner, a concentration camp survivor played by Hildegard Knef, returns to her devastated apartment in the ruins of Berlin. She finds Hans Mertens, a former German army surgeon already living there, succumbing to alcoholism and despair. The surgeon runs into his former captain, now a prosperous businessman, who had ordered the Christmas Eve massacre of one hundred civilians in a Polish village in 1942. Haunted by such memories, Mertens decides to kill the captain on the first postwar Christmas Eve.

At the last moment, Wallner convinces Mertens that such an act of vigilante justice would be a mistake. “We cannot pass sentence,” she tells him. The surgeon understands. “That’s right, Susanne,” he replies as the film ends. “But we must bring charges. Demand atonement on behalf of millions of innocent murder victims.”

The film was a spectacular success, attracting huge audiences. But its message was fundamentally misleading. It was left to the Allies, not to the German people, to arrange the early war crimes trials. The victors soon largely abandoned such efforts, focusing instead on the emerging Cold War. As for most Germans, they were far more eager to forget their recent past than to contemplate atonement.

Among the chief perpetrators who were not immediately arrested or who were caught and not initially recognized by their Allied captors, there was certainly no talk of atonement either. There was only the impulse to flee. In Adolf Hitler’s case, it was by committing suicide in his bunker along with Eva Braun, whom he had just married. After poisoning their six children, Joseph Goebbels, his propaganda chief, and his wife, Magda, followed suit. In the 1976 bestselling novel The Valhalla Exchange, the fictional Goebbels explains why he chose that course. “I have no intention of spending the rest of my life running around the world like some eternal refugee,” he declares.

But most of his colleagues and other Nazis guilty of war crimes had no intention of following Hitler’s example. Many of the lower ranking perpetrators did not even feel compelled to hide: they quickly blended in with the millions who were seeking to rebuild their lives in a new Europe. Others, who felt more at risk, found ways to flee the continent. For a long time, it looked like many of the people in both categories had succeeded in eluding responsibility for their crimes, often with the support of loyal family members and networks of Kameraden—Nazi Party comrades.

This book focuses on the relatively small band of men and women—both those serving in official positions and those operating independently—who worked to reverse their initial successes, not letting the world forget their crimes. These pursuers demonstrated tremendous determination and courage as they kept up their fight even when the governments representing the victors and the rest of the world grew increasingly indifferent to the fates of the Nazi war criminals. In the process, they also explored the nature of evil and raised profoundly troubling questions about human behavior.

Those who have attempted to bring the murderers to justice have been loosely labeled as Nazi hunters—but they have not been anything like a group with a common strategy or basic agreement on tactics. They often have been at odds with each other, prone to recriminations, jealousies, and outright rivalries, even as they pursued roughly the same goals. In some cases, this undoubtedly weakened their effectiveness.

But even if everyone involved in the pursuit of Nazi criminals had put aside their personal differences, the results would not have been significantly different. And by any absolute measure, those results can’t justify the claim that justice was done. “Anyone who seeks a balance between the crimes that were committed and the punishment will be ultimately frustrated,” said David Marwell, a historian who has worked for the Justice Department’s Office of Special Investigations, the United States Holocaust Memorial Museum, and the Berlin Document Center, and served as the director of the Museum of Jewish Heritage in New York. As for the original pledge of the victors to prosecute all of those responsible for war crimes, he curtly added: “It’s too difficult.”

Too difficult to succeed on a grand scale, yes, but the efforts by those who refused to give up on the notion of holding at least some Nazi war criminals to account developed into an ongoing postwar saga unlike any other in the history of mankind.

At the end of past wars, the victors often killed or enslaved the vanquished, plundering their lands and exacting speedy retribution. Summary executions, not trials or any other legal proceedings aimed at weighing the evidence to determine guilt or innocence, were the norm. Revenge was the motive, pure and simple.

Many of the Nazi hunters were also initially motivated by revenge, particularly those coming out of the camps or those victors who helped liberate them and saw the stunning evidence of the horrors that the fleeing Nazis left behind: the dead and the dying, the crematoriums, the “medical” facilities that served as torture chambers. As a result, some Nazis and their collaborators were at the receiving end of immediate retribution at the end of the war.

But from the first Nuremberg trials to the hunt for war criminals in Europe, Latin America, the United States, and the Middle East that has sporadically continued to this day, the Nazi hunters have focused most of their efforts on initiating legal proceedings against their prey—demonstrating that even the most obviously guilty should have their day in court. It was no accident that Simon Wiesenthal, the most famous Nazi hunter, titled his memoirs Justice Not Vengeance.

Even when justice was so obviously falling short, with the guilty often getting away with the mildest punishments or in many cases not facing any sanctions at all, the other goal that began to emerge was education by example. Why pursue an aging camp guard during his final days? Why not let the perpetrators quietly fade away? Many U.S. officials were more than happy to do so, especially as their attention was diverted to a new enemy—the Soviet Union. But the individual Nazi hunters were not about to let go, arguing that each case offered valuable lessons.

The point of the lessons: to demonstrate that the horrendous crimes of World War II and the Holocaust cannot and should not be forgotten, and that those who instigated or carried out those crimes—or others who may carry out similar crimes in the future—are never beyond the law, at least in principle.

•  •  •

In 1960 when a Mossad team kidnapped Adolf Eichmann in Argentina and flew him to Israel for trial, I was thirteen years old. I have no recollection of how much I was aware of what had happened, whether I was paying attention to the media coverage at all, but something had clearly sunk in. I know that because of a vivid memory from the following summer when Eichmann was already on trial in Jerusalem.

During a family visit to San Francisco, I was sitting in a luncheonette with my father. At one point, I started examining the face of an old man sitting at the other end of the counter. I leaned over to my father, pointed him out and whispered: “I think that may be Hitler.” My father grinned and let me down gently. Of course I had no idea then that, while working on this book half a century later, I would interview Gabriel Bach, the last surviving prosecutor in the Eichmann trial, and the two Mossad agents who led the team that seized him.

Eichmann’s kidnapping, trial, and hanging marked the beginning of a growing awareness that many Nazi criminals had gone unpunished, and signaled a gradual revival in interest in their crimes. It also soon spawned an outpouring of books and movies about Nazi hunters, often based more on myths than realities. I avidly read those books and watched those movies, fascinated by the characters—both the heroes and the villains—as much as by the nonstop action.

There was much more than the great chase that captured the popular imagination. Especially for the postwar generation, the larger questions about the nature of the people who were objects of that chase, and even about their family and neighbors, were just as riveting. To this day, there are no easy answers to the question why so many millions of Germans and Austrians, along with collaborators in most of the lands they conquered, could have willingly enlisted in a movement dedicated to mass murder.

During my stints as Newsweek’s bureau chief in Bonn, Berlin, Warsaw, and Moscow during the 1980s and 1990s, I often found myself examining the legacy of the war and the Holocaust. Whenever I lapsed into thinking I would encounter no more surprises, only variations of similar stories, I was brought up short by some startling new revelation.

In late 1994, I was preparing my report for a cover story Newsweek had scheduled to mark the fiftieth anniversary of the liberation of Auschwitz on January 27, 1995. I had interviewed numerous survivors from many countries in Europe. Each time I was uneasy asking them to relive the horrors of those years, and I always told them to feel free to stop at any point if they felt the process was too painful. In most cases, though, the stories poured out of them; once they started, they just kept going and no further prompting was necessary. No matter how many such stories I heard, I was always mesmerized—and at times truly stunned.

After interviewing a Dutch Jewish survivor whose story was particularly moving, I automatically apologized for making him go through it in such detail, saying that of course he must have told his family and friends about his odyssey many times. “I never told anyone,” he replied. Seeing my expression of disbelief, he added: “No one ever asked.” He had carried his burden all alone for fifty years.

Three years later another encounter offered a glimpse of those who carry a very different kind of burden. I interviewed Niklas Frank, the son of Hans Frank, who had served as Hitler’s governor general of Poland during the occupation, presiding over an empire of death. A journalist and author who described himself as a typical European liberal, Niklas cared deeply about democratic values. He took a special interest in Poland, particularly during the 1980s when the independent trade union Solidarity was leading the human rights struggle that ultimately toppled that country’s communist regime.

Born in 1939, Niklas was only seven when he saw his father for the last time in Nuremberg, shortly before he was hanged as a war criminal. Along with his mother, he was led into the prison. His father pretended that nothing was amiss. “Well, Nikki, soon we’ll all be together again for Christmas,” he said. The young boy left “seething mad,” he recalled, because he knew his father was about to be hanged. “My father lied to everyone, even his own son,” he said. Later in life he thought about what he wished his father had said instead: “Dear Nikki, I’ll be executed because I did terrible things. Don’t lead the kind of life I led.”

Then came another line I will always remember. Describing his father as “a monster,” he declared: “I’m against the death penalty, but I believe my father’s execution was totally justified.”

In all my years as a foreign correspondent, I had never heard anyone speak that way about a father. That sentiment led Niklas to one more conclusion. He pointed out that Frank is a common name and most people he meets don’t know that he is the son of a major war criminal unless he tells them. Nonetheless, he knows the truth and cannot put it out of his mind. “There isn’t a day when I don’t think about my father and especially everything that the Germans did,” he said. “The world will never forget this. Whenever I go abroad and say that I’m German, people think ‘Auschwitz.’ And I think that’s absolutely just.”

I told Niklas that I felt lucky that I did not have to live with his sense of inherited guilt, since, as it happened, my father fought on the losing side when Germany invaded Poland in 1939. I knew that rationally the happenstance of birth is no reason to feel morally superior or inferior. Niklas knew that, too. But I fully understood why his one wish in life was to have a father he didn’t have to be ashamed of.

Niklas’s attitude was hardly typical for family members of Nazi war criminals. But to my mind his raw, brutal honesty exemplified what is best in Germans today—the willingness of many of them to confront, on a daily basis, their country’s past. It took a long time for that to happen, though, and much of that would never have happened at all if it were not for the Nazi hunters and their arduous, often lonely struggles, not just in Germany and Austria, but all over the world.

That struggle is now coming to an end. Most of the Nazi hunters, along with the hunted, will soon only exist in our collective memories, where myth and reality are likely to become even more intertwined than they are today. Which is why their stories can and should be told now.



CHAPTER ONE

The Hangman’s Handiwork

“My husband was a military man all his life. He was entitled to a soldier’s death. He asked for that. I tried to get that for him. Just that. That he should die with some honor.”

The widow of a hanged German general speaking to an American judge at Nuremberg, from the 2001 Broadway production of Judgment at Nuremberg written by Abby Mann

On October 16, 1946, ten of the twelve top Nazis whom the International Military Tribunal had condemned to death by hanging were sent to the gallows, which had been hastily constructed in the Nuremberg prison gym where American security guards had played a basketball game only three days earlier.

Martin Bormann, Adolf Hitler’s right-hand man, who had escaped from his bunker in Berlin during the final days of the war and then seemingly vanished, was the only one of the twelve convicted and sentenced in absentia.

As the highest ranking Nazi in Nuremberg, Hermann Göring—who had served Hitler in a variety of functions, including president of the Reichstag and commander in chief of the air force, and aspired to succeed der Führer—was due to be hanged first. The court’s verdict spelled out his unambiguous role: “There is nothing to be said in mitigation. For Göring was often, indeed almost always, the moving force, second only to his leader. He was the leading war aggressor, both as political and military leader; he was the director of the slave labor program and the creator of the oppressive program against the Jews and other races at home and abroad. All of these crimes he has frankly admitted.”

But Göring eluded the hangman by biting into a cyanide pill shortly before the executions were to begin. Two weeks earlier he had returned to his cell after the verdicts were read, “his face pale and frozen, his eyes popping,” according to G. M. Gilbert, the prison psychiatrist who was there to meet the condemned men. “His hands were trembling in spite of his attempt to appear nonchalant,” Gilbert reported. “His eyes were moist and he was panting, fighting back an emotional breakdown.”

What particularly incensed Göring and some of the others was the planned method of execution. Corporal Harold Burson, a twenty-four-year-old from Memphis who was given the assignment to report on the trial and write the daily scripts for the Armed Forces Network, recalled: “The one thing that Göring wanted to protect above everything else was his military honor. He made the statement more than once that they could take him out and shoot him, give him a soldier’s death, and he would have no problem with that. His problem was that he thought that hanging was the worst thing they could do to a soldier.”

Fritz Sauckel, who had overseen the slave labor apparatus, shared those sentiments. “Death by hanging—that, at least, I did not deserve,” he protested. “The death part—all right—but that—That I did not deserve.”

Field Marshal Wilhelm Keitel and his deputy General Alfred Jodl pleaded to be spared the noose. Instead, they asked for a firing squad, which would offer them, in Keitel’s words, “a death which is granted to a soldier in all armies of the world should he incur the supreme penalty.” Admiral Erich Raeder had been sentenced to life imprisonment, but he requested the Allied Control Council “to commute this sentence to death by shooting, by way of mercy.” Emily Göring reportedly later claimed that her husband only planned to use the cyanide capsule if “his application to be shot was refused.”

That left ten men to face the hangman, U.S. Army Master Sergeant John C. Woods. Herman Obermayer, a young Jewish GI who had worked with Woods at the end of the war, providing him with basic materials such as wood and rope for scaffolds for earlier hangings, recalled that the beefy thirty-five-year-old Kansan “defied all the rules, didn’t shine his shoes and didn’t get shaved.”

There was nothing accidental about the way Woods looked. “His dress was always sloppy,” Obermayer added. “His dirty pants were always unpressed, his jacket looked as though he slept in it for weeks, his M/Sgt. stripes were attached to his sleeve by a single stitch of yellow thread at each corner, and his crumpled hat was always worn at an improper angle.”

The only American hangman in the European theater, Woods claimed to have dispatched 347 people during his fifteen-year career up to that point; his earlier victims in Europe had included several American servicemen convicted of murder and rape, along with Germans accused of killing downed Allied pilots and other wartime offenses. This “alcoholic, ex-bum” with “crooked yellow teeth, foul breath, and dirty neck,” as Obermayer put it, knew he could flaunt his slovenly appearance since his superiors needed his services.

And no more so than at Nuremberg, where suddenly Woods was “one of the most important men in the world,” Obermayer noted, and yet betrayed no nervousness as he carried out his assignment.

Three wooden scaffolds, each painted black, were set up in the gym. The idea was to use two of them alternately, keeping the third in reserve if anything went wrong with the mechanism of the first two. Each scaffold had thirteen steps, and ropes were suspended from the crossbeams supported on two posts. A new rope was provided for each hanging. As Kingsbury Smith, the pool reporter at the scene, wrote: “When the trap was sprung, the victim dropped from sight in the interior of the scaffolding. The bottom of it was boarded up with wood on three sides and shielded by a dark canvas curtain on the fourth, so that no one saw the death struggles of the men dangling with broken necks.”

At 1:11 a.m., Joachim von Ribbentrop, Hitler’s foreign minister, was the first to arrive in the gym. The original plan was for the guards to escort the prisoners from their cells without manacles, but, following Göring’s suicide, the rules had changed. Ribbentrop’s hands were bound as he entered, and then the manacles were replaced with a leather strap.

After mounting the scaffold, “the former diplomatic wizard of Nazidom,” as Smith archly put it, proclaimed to the assembled witnesses: “God protect Germany.” Allowed to make an additional short statement, the man who had played a critical role in launching Germany’s attacks on country after country concluded: “My last wish is that Germany realize its entity and an understanding be reached between the East and West. I wish peace to the world.”

Woods then placed the black hood over his head, adjusted the rope, and pulled the lever that opened the trap, sending Ribbentrop to his death.

Two minutes later, Field Marshal Keitel entered the gym. Smith duly noted that he “was the first military leader to be executed under the new concept of international law—the principle that professional soldiers cannot escape punishment for waging aggressive wars and permitting crimes against humanity with the claim they were dutifully carrying out orders of superiors.”

Keitel maintained his military bearing to the last. Looking down from the scaffold before the noose was put around his neck, he spoke loudly and clearly, betraying no signs of nervousness. “I call on God Almighty to have mercy on the German people,” he declared. “More than two million German soldiers went to their death for the fatherland before me. I follow now my sons—all for Germany.”

While both Ribbentrop and Keitel were still hanging from their ropes, there was a pause in the proceedings. An American general representing the Allied Control Commission allowed the thirty or so people in the gym to smoke—and almost everyone immediately lit up.

An American and a Russian doctor, equipped with stethoscopes, ducked behind the curtains to confirm their deaths. When they emerged, Woods went back up the steps of the first scaffold, pulled out a knife that was strapped to his side, and cut the rope. Ribbentrop’s body, his head still covered by the black hood, was then carried on a stretcher to a corner of the gym that was blocked off with a black canvas curtain. This procedure would be followed for each of the bodies.

The break over, an American colonel issued the command: “Cigarettes out, please, gentlemen.”

At 1:36, it was the turn of Ernst Kaltenbrunner, the Austrian SS leader who had succeeded the assassinated Reinhard Heydrich as the chief of the Reich Security Main Office (RSHA), the agency that oversaw mass murder, the concentration camps, and all manner of persecution. Among the people who reported to him: Adolf Eichmann, who had been in charge of RSHA’s Department of Jewish Affairs, responsible for implementing the Final Solution, and Rudolf Höss, the commandant of Auschwitz.

Unlike Kaltenbrunner, whom American troops had tracked to his hideout in the Austrian Alps at the end of the war, Eichmann’s whereabouts were still unknown. Höss, who had been captured by the British in northern Germany, testified at the Nuremberg trial, but he would face a different hangman’s noose later.

Yet from the scaffold Kaltenbrunner still insisted, as he had to the American psychiatrist Gilbert earlier, that somehow he knew nothing about the crimes he was accused of. “I have loved my German people and my fatherland with a warm heart. I have done my duty by the laws of my people and I am sorry my people were led this time by men who were not soldiers and that crimes were committed of which I had no knowledge.”

As Woods produced the black hood to put over his head, Kaltenbrunner added: “Germany, good luck.”

Alfred Rosenberg, one of the earliest members of the Nazi Party, who served as the de facto high priest of its deadly racist “cultural” creed, was the most speedily dispatched. Asked if he had any final words, he did not respond. Although a self-professed atheist, he was accompanied by a Protestant chaplain who prayed at his side as Woods pulled the lever.

After another short break, Hans Frank, Hitler’s gauleiter or governor general of occupied Poland, was ushered in. Unlike the others, he had told Gilbert, after his death sentence was announced: “I deserved it and I expected it.” During his imprisonment, he had converted to Roman Catholicism. As he entered the gym, he was the only one of the ten who had a smile on his face. He betrayed his nervousness by swallowing frequently, but, as Smith reported, he “gave the appearance of being relieved at the prospect of atoning for his evil deeds.”

Frank’s last words seemed to confirm that: “I am thankful for the kind treatment during my captivity and I ask God to accept me with mercy.”

Next, all that Wilhelm Frick, Hitler’s minister of interior, had to say was “Long live eternal Germany.”

At 2:12, Smith noted, the “ugly, dwarfish little man” Julius Streicher, the editor and publisher of the venomous Nazi party newspaper Der Stürmer, walked to the gallows, his face visibly twitching. Asked to identify himself, he shouted: “Heil Hitler!”

Allowing for a rare reference to his own emotions, Smith confessed: “The shriek sent a shiver down my back.”

As Streicher was pushed up the final steps on the top of the gallows to position him for Woods, he glared at the witnesses and screamed: “Purim Fest, 1946.” The reference was to the Jewish holiday that commemorates the execution of Haman, who, according to the Old Testament, was planning to kill all Jews in the Persian Empire.

Asked formally for his last words, Streicher shouted: “The Bolsheviks will hang you one day.”

While Woods was placing the black hood over his head, Streicher could be heard saying “Adele, my dear wife.”

But the drama was far from over. The trapdoor opened with a bang, with Streicher kicking as he went down. As the rope snapped taut, it swung wildly and the witnesses could hear him groaning. Woods came down from the platform and disappeared behind the black curtain that concealed the dying man. Abruptly the groans ceased and the rope stopped moving. Smith and the other witnesses were convinced that Woods had grabbed Streicher and pulled down hard, strangling him.

Had something gone wrong—or was this no accident? Lieutenant Stanley Tilles, who was charged with coordinating the Nuremberg and earlier hangings of war criminals, later claimed that Woods had deliberately placed the coils of Streicher’s noose off-center so that his neck would not be broken during his fall; instead, he would strangle. “Everyone in the chamber had watched Streicher’s performance and none of it was lost on Woods. I knew Woods hated Germans . . . and I watched his face become florid and his jaws clench,” he wrote, adding that Woods’s intent was clear. “I saw a small smile cross his lips as he pulled the hangman’s handle.”

The procession of the unrepentant continued—and so did the apparent mishaps. Sauckel, the man who had overseen the vast Nazi universe of slave labor, screamed defiantly: “I am dying innocent. The sentence is wrong. God protect Germany and make Germany great again. Long live Germany! God protect my family.” He, too, groaned loudly after dropping through the trapdoor.

Wearing his Wehrmacht uniform with its coat collar half turned up, Alfred Jodl only offered up the last words: “My greetings to you, my Germany.”

The last of the ten was Arthur Seyss-Inquart, who had helped install Nazi rule in his native Austria and later presided over occupied Holland. After limping to the gallows on his clubfoot, he, like Ribbentrop, presented himself as a man of peace. “I hope that this execution is the last act of the tragedy of the Second World War and that the lesson taken from the world war will be that peace and understanding should exist between peoples,” he said. “I believe in Germany.”

At 2:45, he dropped to his death.

Woods calculated that the total time from the first to the tenth hanging was 103 minutes. “That’s quick work,” he declared later.

While the bodies of the last two condemned men were still dangling from their ropes, guards brought out an eleventh body on a stretcher. It was covered by a U.S. Army blanket, but two large bare feet protruded from it and one arm in a black silk pajama sleeve was hanging down on the side.

An Army colonel ordered the blanket removed to avoid any doubt about whose body was joining the others. Hermann Göring’s face was “still contorted with the pain of his last agonizing moments and his final gesture of defiance,” Smith reported. “They covered him up quickly and this Nazi warlord, who like a character out of the Borgias, had wallowed in blood and beauty, passed behind a canvas curtain into the black pages of history.”

•  •  •

In an interview with Stars and Stripes after the hangings, Woods maintained that the operation had gone off precisely as he had planned it:

“I hanged these ten Nazis in Nuremberg and I am proud of it; I did a good job. Everything went A1. I have . . . never been to an execution which went better. I am only sorry that that fellow Göring escaped me; I’d have been at my best for him. No, I wasn’t nervous. I haven’t got any nerves. You can’t afford nerves in my job. But this Nuremberg job was just what I wanted. I wanted this job so terribly that I stayed here a bit longer, though I could have gone home earlier.”

But in the aftermath of the hangings, Woods’s claims were fiercely disputed. Smith’s pool report left no doubt that something had gone wrong with Streicher’s execution, and probably also with Sauckel’s. A report in The Star of London claimed that the drop had been too short and the condemned men were not properly tied, which meant they hit their heads as they plunged through the trapdoor and “died of slow strangulation.” In his memoirs, General Telford Taylor, who helped prepare the International Military Tribunal’s case against the top Nazis and then became the chief prosecutor in the subsequent twelve Nuremberg trials, pointed out that the photographs of the bodies laid out in the gym seemed to confirm such suspicions. Some of the faces appeared to be bloodied.

This prompted speculation that Woods had bungled some parts of the job. Albert Pierrepoint, the British Army’s highly experienced hangman, did not want to criticize his American counterpart directly, but he did refer to newspaper reports of “indications of clumsiness . . . arising from the unalterable five-foot drop and the, to me, old-fashioned four-coiled cowboy knot.” In his account of the Nuremberg trial, German historian Werner Maser asserted that Jodl took eighteen minutes to die, and Keitel “as much as twenty-four minutes.”

Those claims did not tally with Smith’s pool report, and some of the subsequent accounts of the hangings may have deliberately exaggerated or sensationalized what went wrong. Still, the hangings were hardly the smooth operation that Woods insisted he had carried out. He tried to deflect the criticism prompted by the photographs by saying that sometimes victims bit their tongues during hangings, which would account for the blood on their faces.

The debate about Woods’s performance only underscores the issue that several of the condemned men raised in the first place: why was hanging chosen over the firing squad? Woods was genuinely convinced about the virtues of his trade. Obermayer, the young GI who had known Woods when he carried out earlier executions, recalled “a more-or-less drunken moment” when one soldier asked the hangman whether he would like to die at the end of a rope or by some other means. “You know, I think it’s a damn good way to die; as a matter of fact, I’ll probably die that way myself.”

“Aw, for Christ’s sake, be serious, that’s nothing to kid about,” another soldier interjected.

Woods wasn’t laughing. “I’m damn serious,” he said. “It’s clean and it’s painless, and it’s traditional.” He added: “It’s traditional with hangmen to hang themselves when they get old.”

Obermayer was not persuaded about the putative advantages of hanging over other forms of execution. “Hanging is a special kind of humiliating experience,” he said, looking back at those encounters with Woods. “Why so humiliating? Because when you die, all your sphincters lose their elasticity. You become a shitty mess.” In his view, it was hardly surprising that the top Nazi officials at Nuremberg pleaded so desperately for the firing squad instead.

Nonetheless, Obermayer was convinced that Woods was sincere in his belief that he was carrying out a job that needed to be done with maximum efficiency and decency. Pierrepoint, his British counterpart, whose father and uncle had plied the same trade, made a similar claim at the end of his career: “I operated, on behalf of the State, what I am convinced was the most humane and dignified method of meting out death to a delinquent,” he wrote. Among Pierrepoint’s victims during his tour in Germany were the “Beasts of Belsen,” including the former commandant of Bergen-Belsen Josef Kramer and the infamously sadistic guard Irma Grese, who was only twenty-one when she went to the gallows.

Unlike Woods, Pierrepoint lived to an old age, and eventually turned against the death penalty. “Capital punishment, in my view, achieved nothing except revenge,” he concluded.

Obermayer, who had returned to the United States before the hangings at Nuremberg, remained convinced that Woods approached all of his assignments, including his most famous one, with professional detachment. It was “just another job for him,” he wrote. “I’m sure his approach to it was much more like that of the union workman who stands on the slaughtering block in a Kansas City packing house than that of the proud French fanatic who guillotined Marie Antoinette in the Place de la Concorde.”

But in the aftermath of the war and the Holocaust, it was hardly surprising that the notions of revenge and justice were often intermingled, whatever the motives of the executioners themselves.

As for Woods, he was proved wrong in his prediction about how he would die. In 1950, he accidentally electrocuted himself while repairing a power line in the Marshall Islands.



CHAPTER TWO

“An Eye for an Eye”

“If this Jewish business is ever avenged on earth, then have mercy on us Germans.”

Major Wilhelm Trapp, the commander of Reserve Police Battalion 101, one of the most notorious German killing squads in occupied Poland

It wasn’t just “this Jewish business” that prompted cries for revenge as the Allied armies made their final push into Germany, although the maniacal, methodical implementation of the Final Solution against an entire race of people was in a category of its own. Every country that had been overrun by Hitler’s troops—its citizens terrorized and murdered, many of its cities and towns reduced to rubble—had ample motivation to seek payback. In particular, the Nazis’ treatment of Untermenschen, the Slavic “subhumans” to the east who were to be enslaved and worked or starved to death, triggered the fury of the Soviet Union’s Red Army.

Hitler’s policies of mass murder in the newly conquered territories and brutal treatment of Soviet POWs, which ensured that most Red Army troops quickly became convinced that capture meant near certain death, constituted a generous gift to Stalin’s propaganda efforts to whip up hatred of the invaders.

In August 1942, Ilya Ehrenburg, a war correspondent for the Red Army newspaper Krasnaya Zvezda, penned his most famous lines: “Now we know. The Germans are not human. Now the word ‘German’ has become the most terrible swear word. Let us not speak. Let us not be indignant. Let us kill. If you do not kill the German he will kill you. . . . If you have killed one German, kill another. There is nothing jollier than German corpses.”

Before the term “Nazi hunters” first surfaced, there was hunting for Nazis—or more accurately, hunting for Germans. There was little time or inclination to draw distinctions between the rank-and-file troops and civilians and their military and political leaders. The motive was simple: victory and vengeance. But as Hitler’s armies encountered growing resistance and their ultimate defeat looked more and more likely, the Allied leaders began grappling with the issue of how far to push the doctrine of retribution, how many should pay the ultimate price for their country’s crimes.

When the foreign ministers of the Big Three powers met in Moscow in October 1943, they agreed to jointly try major German war criminals while others who were responsible for more geographically circumscribed atrocities would be “sent back to the countries in which their abominable deeds were done.” Although this Moscow Declaration set the stage for future trials, Secretary of State Cordell Hull left no doubt that he saw any judicial proceeding for the top political leaders as a mere formality. “If I had my way, I would take Hitler and Mussolini and Tojo and their arch-accomplices and bring them before a drumhead court-martial,” he declared to the delight of his Soviet hosts. “And at sunrise on the following day there would occur an historic incident!”

At the Tehran conference six weeks later, Joseph Stalin charged that Winston Churchill, who had drafted the key language of the Moscow Declaration, was too soft on the Germans. As an alternative, he proposed the kind of solution that he so freely applied in his own country. “At least fifty thousand—and perhaps a hundred thousand—of the German command staff must be physically liquidated,” he declared. “I propose a salute to the swiftest possible justice for all Germany’s war criminals—justice before a firing squad! I drink to our unity in killing them as quickly as we capture them. All of them!”

Churchill immediately expressed his outrage. “I will not be party to any butchery in cold blood,” he said. He went on to distinguish between the war criminals who “must pay” and those who had simply fought for their country. He added that he would rather be shot himself “than sully my country’s honor by such infamy.” President Franklin D. Roosevelt tried to defuse the tense moment by making a lame joke. Perhaps, he proposed, the two leaders could arrive at a reasonable compromise on the number of Germans to be shot—“say, forty-nine thousand, five hundred.”

But by the time of the Yalta summit in February 1945, the positions of Churchill and Stalin on what to do with Nazi war criminals had undergone a seemingly startling evolution. Guy Liddell, head of counterespionage at MI5, had kept wartime diaries that were only declassified in 2012. According to his entries, Churchill backed a plan put forward by some of his officials that “certain people should be bumped off” while others would be imprisoned without resorting to Nuremberg trials. What was meant by “certain people” was the top Nazi leadership. Summing up the reasoning behind this recommendation, Liddell wrote: “This would be a much clearer proposition and would not bring the law into disrepute.”

As Liddell’s diary makes clear, this created an odd realignment of the Big Three. “Winston had put this forward at Yalta but Roosevelt felt that the Americans would want a trial,” he wrote a few months after the summit. “Joe supported Roosevelt on the perfectly frank grounds that Russians like public trials for propaganda purposes. It seems to me that we are just being dragged down to the level of the travesties of justice that have been taking place in the USSR for the past 20 yrs.”

In other words, Stalin saw Roosevelt’s push for trials as just another opportunity to replicate the Soviet show trials of the 1930s, which was exactly what Churchill wanted to avoid—even at the price of authorizing summary executions of top Nazis without any judicial process. Although the Americans would prevail, setting the stage for Nuremberg, the seeds of doubt about those proceedings had already been planted.

•  •  •

In the final stage of the war, much of the Red Army gave full vent to their fury. They had fought for nearly four years on their own soil, enduring staggering losses and watching the devastation wrought by the German invaders. Then, as they mounted their drive for Berlin, their enemy refused to surrender to the inevitable. German troops died in record numbers—more than 450,000 in January 1945 alone, the month when the Soviet Union launched its largest offensive of the war. This was more than the United States lost during the entire war on all fronts.

That was no accident. The Nazi leaders had stepped up the terror against their own people to force obedience to Hitler’s order to resist till the end. New “Flying Courts Martial of the Führer” traveled to threatened areas to order summary executions of soldiers who were suspected of desertion or undermined morale, effectively allowing them to shoot almost anyone. This was an eerie echo of Stalin’s orders to carry out frenzied executions of his own officers and men during the German offensive against his country, ostensibly for the same reasons. Although undermanned and completely outgunned, German units kept inflicting heavy casualties on the attackers.

All of which ensured an orgy of violence—endorsed by the top Soviet leadership. In his orders to the First Belorussian Front just before the January 1945 offensive in Poland and then Germany, Marshal Georgy Zhukov declared: “Woe to the land of the murderers. We will get our terrible revenge for everything.”

Even before they reached the German heartland, the Red Army troops had acquired a reputation for raping women—in Hungary, Romania, and then Silesia, where often little distinction was made between German and Polish women who were trapped in the historically disputed borderland of their two countries. Once the Soviet offensive reached deeper into German territory, horrifying tales of rape emerged from almost every city and village taken by Red Army troops. Vasily Grossman, the Russian novelist and war correspondent, wrote: “Terrible things are happening to German women. A cultivated German man explains with expressive gestures and broken Russian words that his wife has been raped by ten men that day.”

Of course such accounts did not appear in Grossman’s officially sanctioned dispatches. In some cases, superior officers did stop the rampages and a degree of order was gradually restored a few months after the German surrender on May 8, but far from completely. Rough estimates put the number of German women raped by Soviet forces in the final period of the war and in the months afterward at 1.9 million; there was also a huge surge of suicides by women who had been raped, often multiple times.

As late as November 6 and 7, 1945, the anniversary of the Bolshevik Revolution, Hermann Matzkowski, a German communist who was appointed as the mayor of a district of Königsberg by the new Soviet authorities, noted that the occupiers appeared to have been given official sanction for additional retribution. “Men were beaten, most women were raped, including my seventy-one-year-old mother, who died by Christmas,” he wrote. The only well-fed Germans in the town, he added, “are women who have become pregnant by Russian soldiers.”

Soviet soldiers were not the only ones who raped German women. According to a British woman who was married to a German in a village in the Black Forest, French Moroccan troops “came at night and surrounded every house in the village and raped every female between 12 and 80.” American troops were also responsible for rapes, but nothing like on the scale that was happening in the territory conquered by the Red Army. Unlike what was taking place further east, these were usually individual instances of rape, and at least in some cases punishment was meted out to the rapists. John C. Woods, the U.S. Army hangman, executed American murderers and rapists before he performed his much more famous duties at Nuremberg.

Retribution also came in the form of the mass expulsion of ethnic Germans from the parts of the Reich that would be allocated to Poland, Czechoslovakia, and the Soviet Union (Königsberg, to be renamed Kaliningrad) according to the newly redrawn map of the region, as established by the victors. Millions of Germans had already begun their chaotic flight from those territories as the Red Army advanced. Some had followed Hitler’s armies east only six years earlier, participating in the brutal measures against the local population that would now come back to haunt them.

According to the Potsdam agreement signed by Stalin, the new U.S. President Harry Truman, and the new British Prime Minister Clement Attlee on August 1, 1945, the population transfers after the war were to take place “in a humane and orderly fashion.” But the reality of the situation stood in stark contrast to such reassuring rhetoric. Aside from dying from hunger and exhaustion on their desperate treks west, the expellees were often attacked by their former subjects—including forced laborers and concentration camp prisoners who had managed to survive the death marches and executions by their Nazi overlords right up until the last days of the war. And even those who had endured less were eager for revenge.

A Czech member of a militia unit recalled the fate of one victim. “In one town, civilians dragged a German into the middle of a crossroads and set alight to him. . . . I could do nothing, because if I had said something, I should have been attacked in my turn.” A Red Army soldier finally shot the German to finish him off. The total of expelled ethnic Germans from East-Central Europe in the late 1940s is usually put at 12 million, with estimates of the death toll varying widely. In the 1950s, the West German government claimed that more than one million had died; more recent estimates put the number at about 500,000. Whatever the exact numbers, there was little agonizing about the fate of those Germans among the victors in the East. They were making good on Marshal Zhukov’s promise of “terrible revenge.”

•  •  •

On April 29, 1945, the U.S. Army’s 42nd Infantry Division, known as the Rainbow Division because it was initially composed of National Guard units from twenty-six states and Washington, D.C., entered Dachau and liberated the approximately 32,000 survivors in the main camp. Although not technically an extermination camp and its one gas chamber had never been used, the main camp and a network of subcamps had worked, tortured, and starved thousands of prisoners to death. Designed as the first full-fledged concentration camp of the Nazi era, it was used mostly for those categorized as political prisoners, although the proportion of Jewish inmates increased during the war years.

The American troops were confronted by scenes of horror they had never imagined possible. In his official report, Brigadier General Henning Linden, the assistant division commander, described what the first glimpse of Dachau was like:

“Along the railroad running along the northern edge of the Camp, I found a train of some 30–50 cars, some passenger, some flatcars, some boxcars all littered with dead prisoners—20–30 to a car. Some bodies were on the ground alongside the train, itself. As far as I could see, most showed signs of beatings, starvation, shooting, or all three.”

In a letter to his parents, Lieutenant William J. Cowling, Linden’s aide, described what he saw in more graphic language: “The cars were loaded with dead bodies. Most of them naked and all of them skin and bones. Honest their legs and arms were only a couple of inches around and they had no buttocks at all. Many of the bodies had bullet holes in the back of their heads. It made us sick at our stomach and so mad we could do nothing but clench our fists. I couldn’t even talk.”

Linden was met by an SS officer carrying a white flag, along with a Swiss Red Cross representative. As they explained that they were there to surrender the camp and its SS guards, the Americans heard shots from inside the camp. Linden dispatched Cowling to investigate. Riding on the front of a jeep carrying American reporters, he entered through the gate and came upon a cement square that looked deserted.

“Then suddenly people (few would call them that) came from all directions,” Cowling continued in his letter home. “They were dirty, starved skeletons with torn tattered clothes and they screamed and hollered and cried. They ran up and grabbed us. Myself and the newspaper people and kissed our hands, our feet and all of them tried to touch us. They grabbed us and tossed us into the air screaming at the top of their lungs.”

Linden and more Americans arrived at the scene, and more tragedy struck. When the prisoners surged forward to embrace them, some ran into the electrified barbed wire and were immediately killed.

As the Americans worked their way through the camp, examining more gruesome piles of naked bodies, and the starved and in many cases typhus-ridden survivors, some SS guards eagerly surrendered but a few opened fire at prisoners who were trying to break through the fence—and some even appeared to challenge the U.S. troops as they entered. In those cases, retaliation was swift.

“The SS tried to train their machine guns on us,” Lieutenant Colonel Walter J. Fellenz reported, “but we quickly killed them each time a new man attempted to fire the guns. We killed all seventeen SS.”

Other soldiers reported watching prisoners chasing down guards—and feeling no inclination to intervene. Corporal Robert W. Flora recalled that the guards they captured were the lucky ones: “The ones that we didn’t kill or capture were hunted down by the freed inmates and beaten to death. I saw one inmate just stomping on an SS Trooper’s face. There wasn’t much left of it.”

Flora told the incensed prisoner that he had “a lot of hate in his heart.” The prisoner understood and nodded.

“I don’t blame you,” Flora concluded.

Another liberator, Lieutenant George A. Jackson, came upon a group of about two hundred prisoners who had formed a circle around a German soldier who had been trying to escape. The German was wearing a full field pack and carrying a gun, but there was little he could do as two skeletal prisoners tried to catch him. “There was complete silence,” Jackson noted. “It seemed as if there was a ritual taking place, and in a real sense it was.”

Finally, one of the prisoners, who Jackson estimated could not have weighed more than seventy pounds, grabbed him by his coattails. The other pursuer seized his rifle and began to hit him on the head. “At that point, I realized that if I intervened, which could have been one of my duties, it would have become a very disturbing event,” Jackson recalled. Instead, he turned and walked away, leaving the area for about fifteen minutes. “When I came back, his head had been battered away,” he noted. The crowd of prisoners had disappeared; nothing but the corpse was left as evidence of the drama that had just played itself out there.

As for Lieutenant Cowling, his role in liberating Dachau led him to reflect on how he had routinely taken German prisoners up to that point—and how he would change his behavior in the future. “I will never take another German prisoner armed or unarmed,” he vowed in his letter to his parents two days after that searing experience. “How can they expect to do what they have done and simply say I quit and go scot free. They are not fit to live.”

•  •  •

As the Red Army advanced, Tuvia Friedman, a young Jew in the central Polish city of Radom, made plans not only to escape the camp where he worked as a slave laborer but also to avenge the loss of most of his family in the Holocaust. “More and more, I found myself thinking of vengeance, of the day when we Jews would pay the Nazis back, an eye for an eye,” he recalled.

With German troops preparing to evacuate, Friedman and two fellow prisoners escaped through a sewer that led from a factory. Snaking their way through the muck, they emerged into the woods on the other side of the barbed wire of the camp. They washed in a stream and struck out on their own. Friedman later recalled their sense of exhilaration: “We were afraid, but we were free.”

Various Polish partisan units were already operating in the area, fighting not just the Germans but also among themselves. At stake was the future of Poland after the German occupation ended. The largest and most effective resistance movement in occupied Europe was the Polish Home Army (AK), which was also resolutely anticommunist and reported to the Polish government-in-exile in London. The much smaller People’s Guard (GL) was organized by the communists, serving as the spearhead for the Soviet planned takeover of the country.

Friedman, who was using the name Tadek Jasinski to disguise his Jewish identity not just from Germans but also from anti-Semitic locals, eagerly signed up with a militia unit organized by a Lieutenant Adamski of the communist partisans. Their assignment, as Friedman noted, was “to put an end to the anarchistic activities” of the Home Army and “to ferret out and arrest Germans, Poles and Ukrainians who had engaged in wartime activity that was ‘detrimental to the best interests of Poland and the Polish people.’ ”

“With burning enthusiasm, I embarked on the last chore,” Friedman reported. “Working with several militiamen who had been placed under my command, feeling my gun securely in my holster, I arrested one known war criminal after another.”

Friedman and his comrades certainly tracked down some genuine war criminals. They found a Ukrainian foreman named Shronski, for instance, “who had beaten more Jews than he could remember,” and who in turn had led them to another Ukrainian who was later hanged. But the definition of what constituted “the best interests of Poland” also often meant arresting anyone who did not welcome the prospect of Soviet domination once the war ended, including some of the bravest Polish resistance fighters during the German occupation.

Even as its army continued to do battle with the retreating German forces, the Kremlin arrested sixteen Home Army leaders in Warsaw and flew them to Moscow’s infamous Lubyanka prison. Tortured by the “liberators” of Poland, they were subjected to a show trial in June, shortly after the war in Europe was officially over. Their reward for fighting the Nazis for six years: imprisonment for “diversionary activities against the Soviet state.”

Such distinctions mattered little to Friedman. He had felt the sting of Polish anti-Semitism on more than one occasion and had thrown in his lot with those who saw the Red Army purely as liberators.

But it wasn’t the ideology of Poland’s soon-to-be new masters that attracted Friedman. His real priority was to inflict payback against the Germans—and the communists simply gave him the opportunity to do so.

Assigned to Danzig, Friedman and five friends from Radom journeyed to the Baltic port city, watching German troops making their way west, trying to get out while they still could. “Some were pitiful sights, unable to walk, their bandaged heads crimson-stained,” Friedman wrote. “Try as we might we felt no pity, no sympathy. The butchers had run amok; they were responsible for the consequences.”

Much of the city was alight, with Red Army and Polish police units dynamiting buildings that were close to collapsing. “It was like being in Rome at the time of Nero’s famous conflagration,” Friedman added.

The new arrivals were exuberant at the sudden reversal of fortunes. “We felt like men from another planet, whose arrival had sent the inhabitants of earth fleeing in terror.” They swooped into apartments that Germans had evacuated in such haste that their clothing and personal possessions, including German money, were left scattered on the floor. In one dwelling, they came across porcelain vases—“probably Dresden,” Friedman pointed out—and treated them like soccer balls, leaving only smashed pieces behind.

In a more disciplined manner, they then continued on their self-proclaimed mission of finding “the Nazis who had murdered and butchered, to seek some degree of vengeance and bring them to justice.” Reporting to the Ministry of State Security, the eager recruits were told to help round up all remaining German men between the ages of fifteen and sixty. “Let us find the Nazi scum and cleanse the city,” their new superior officer told them.

In his memoirs, Friedman had recalled his older sister Bella’s reaction to the first deportations of Jews from Radom—specifically, that “they go like sheep to the slaughter.” It was a refrain that would haunt discussions of the Holocaust for a long time. But in noting his own satisfaction at the terror he inspired in Danzig as he interrogated and imprisoned Germans there, Friedman used the same freighted analogy: “Now, the tables had turned, and thanks to my smart Polish uniform, I could order these once proud members of the master race about like so many frightened sheep.”

He admitted that he was “quite merciless” with the prisoners he interrogated, beating them to extract confessions. “My heart was filled with hate. I hated them in defeat as I had hated them in their brutal moments of victory.”

Writing long after the war, he declared: “Today, looking back, I am somewhat ashamed, but one must remember that that was the Spring of 1945, the Germans were still fighting to the bitter end on two fronts against the Allied forces as well as the Russian forces, and I had still not heard one word about whether any one member of my family had survived the Nazi camps.” He and others were still also discovering more evidence of the horrors committed by the Germans, such as a room filled with naked bodies displaying the telltale signs of systematic torture. But he also claimed to have experienced the first pangs of unease about his growing reputation as “the unmerciful one.”

Then word came that Bella had survived Auschwitz, prompting Friedman to turn in his uniform and head back to Radom. There, both of them decided to leave Poland, which they felt was an increasingly alien country. Anti-Semitic violence was still all too commonplace, and no other immediate family members had returned from the camps. Their original plan was to go to Palestine, joining the stream of Jewish survivors who were helped by Brichah (“flight” in Hebrew), the underground organization whose mission was to organize illegal escape routes from Europe for them. This was the postwar exodus that set the stage for the creation of the state of Israel.

But Friedman’s journey was soon interrupted, and he ended up for several years in Austria instead. There he could pursue his passion for hunting Nazis. He was determined to keep settling scores—although abandoning the brutal, indiscriminate methods championed by Poland’s new communist masters.

•  •  •

Seeing the big tank with an American flag waving from its turret rolling into the Mauthausen concentration camp near the Austrian city of Linz on May 5, 1945, the emaciated prisoner in his striped uniform was eager to touch the white star on its side. But he couldn’t summon the strength to walk the final few yards to reach it. His knees buckled and he collapsed face first. As an American soldier lifted him up, the prisoner managed to point to the tank and touch the star—before he fainted.

When he came to in the barracks where he found himself lying alone in his bunk, Simon Wiesenthal knew he was a free man. Many of the SS guards had fled the night before, there was only one person to a bunk, the dead bodies that had been there in the morning were now gone, and the smell of DDT filled the air. Most importantly, the Americans brought in big soup kettles. “This was real soup, and it tasted delicious,” Wiesenthal recalled.

It also made him and many of the other prisoners violently ill since they could not digest such rich fare. But in the days ahead, which Wiesenthal remembered as a period of “pleasant apathy” after the daily struggles in the camp to stay alive, a steady diet of more soup, vegetables, and meat, along with pills administered by American doctors in white coats, brought him back to the land of the living. For many others—Wiesenthal puts the figure at three thousand—it was too late. They died of exhaustion or starvation after their liberation.

Wiesenthal was no stranger to violence and tragedy even before World War II and the Holocaust. On December 31, 1908, he was born in Buczacz, a small town in eastern Galicia that was at the time part of the Austro-Hungarian Empire; after World War I it belonged to Poland, and today it is a part of Ukraine. Its population was heavily Jewish, but the entire region was a mix of nationalities and languages, which meant that Wiesenthal grew up hearing German, Yiddish, Polish, Russian, and Ukrainian.

The region was soon engulfed by the violence of World War I, the Bolshevik Revolution, and the ensuing civil wars there pitting Russians, Poles, and Ukrainians against each other. Wiesenthal’s father, a successful commodities dealer, died early in the war fighting for the Austrian army. Wiesenthal’s mother took her two sons to Vienna afterward, but returned to Buczacz once the Russians had retreated in 1917. When Simon was twelve, a marauding Ukrainian cavalryman slashed his thigh, leaving him with a scar for life. When Simon was still a teenager, his younger brother Hillel died from a spinal injury caused by a fall.

Wiesenthal studied architecture in Prague, but returned home to marry his high school sweetheart, Cyla Müller, and set up an office that designed residential buildings. During his student days and back in Buczacz he had many Jewish and non-Jewish friends, and he never gravitated to radical left-wing politics as many young people at the time did. The one political idea that intrigued him related to a different cause than the ones they espoused. “As a young person, I was a Zionist,” he reminded me and other interviewers frequently.

The Holocaust was no abstraction for him, any more than it was for Friedman and other survivors. He and his family lived through the first part of the war in Lwów, or Lviv as the city is now known, which was first taken over by Soviet forces as a result of the Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact that divided Poland between Germany and the Soviet Union, and then was swiftly overrun by the German army during Hitler’s 1941 invasion of the Soviet Union.

The Wiesenthals were at first confined to a ghetto in the city, then held in a nearby concentration camp, and next assigned to the Ostbahn (Eastern Railroad) Repair Works. There, Simon painted Nazi insignia on captured Soviet locomotives, and worked as a sign painter. All of which was merely an interlude in a procession of concentration camp experiences, escapes, and adventures that would lead to Mauthausen as the war was ending. He managed to arrange for Cyla’s escape, which allowed her to go into hiding in Warsaw under an assumed Polish Catholic name. But fate was not so kind to his mother.

In 1942, Wiesenthal warned his mother that another deportation was likely and that she should be ready to hand over a gold watch that she still possessed to avoid getting caught up in it. When a Ukrainian policeman showed up at her door, she did as instructed. But, as he painfully recalled: “A half hour later, another Ukrainian policeman came and she had nothing left to give him, so he took her away. She had a weak heart. My one hope is that she died in the train, and she didn’t have to undress and walk to the gas chamber.”

Wiesenthal recounted numerous stories about his own seemingly miraculous escapes from death. During a roundup of Jews on July 6, 1941, for instance, he claimed to have been in a row of people lined up against the wall by Ukrainian auxiliary troops who, while taking swigs of vodka, started shooting people in the neck. As the executioners were getting closer to him and he stared blankly at the wall in front of him, he suddenly heard church bells—and a Ukrainian shouting “Enough! Evening Mass!”

Much later when Wiesenthal became a global celebrity and he was increasingly embroiled in disputes with other Nazi hunters, the accuracy of such stories was often questioned. Even Tom Segev, the author of a largely sympathetic biography of him, suggests caution in accepting his version of events. “As a man with literary aspirations, Wiesenthal tended to indulge in flights of imagination and more than once preferred to revel in historical drama rather than sticking to pure fact, as if he did not believe in the power of the true story to make enough of an impression on his audience,” he wrote.

But there is no doubt about the harrowing nature of Wiesenthal’s ordeal during the Holocaust, and that he only narrowly eluded death in any number of situations. There is also no doubt that, like Friedman and countless other survivors, as Wiesenthal put it, “I did have a strong desire for revenge.” Friedman, who would soon meet Wiesenthal in Austria and initially cooperate with him in some of their efforts to track Nazi perpetrators, more than confirmed that. “He emerged from the camp at the war’s end, an embittered, ruthless, vengeful pursuer of Nazi criminals,” Friedman wrote.

But Wiesenthal’s first experiences after liberation did not spur him to the kind of brutality that Friedman admitted to. He was still far too weak to even consider assaulting anyone, and he was in no position to take such actions even if he had wanted to. And, by all indications, he moved beyond the simple desire for vengeance relatively quickly.

Nonetheless, like Friedman, he was astounded by the instant role reversals at the end of the war—and how this transformed his former tormentors. When he had recovered enough in Mauthausen to move about, he was attacked by a Polish camp trusty, a former prisoner with special privileges, who beat him for no apparent reason. Wiesenthal decided to report the incident to the Americans. As he waited to file his complaint, he watched American soldiers interrogating SS men. When one particularly brutal guard was brought into the room, Wiesenthal instinctively turned his head, hoping to avoid his notice.

“The sight of this man had always brought cold sweat to the back of my neck,” he recalled. But then he saw what was happening, and he couldn’t believe his eyes. Escorted in by a Jewish prisoner, “the SS man was trembling, just as we had trembled before him.” The man who had inspired so much fear now was “a contemptible, frightened coward . . . the supermen became cowards the moment they were no longer protected by their guns.”

Wiesenthal quickly came to a decision. He walked into the war crimes office in Mauthausen and offered his services to a lieutenant there. The American looked at him skeptically, pointing out that he had no relevant experience.

“And, incidentally, how much do you weigh?” he asked.

Wiesenthal said he weighed fifty-six kilos (123 pounds). That triggered a laugh from the lieutenant. “Wiesenthal, go and take it easy for a while, and come to see me when you really weigh fifty-six kilos.”

Ten days later Wiesenthal was back. He’d put on some weight, but still far from enough, and he had tried to disguise his pale complexion by rubbing red paper on his cheeks.

Evidently impressed by his enthusiasm, the lieutenant assigned him to a Captain Tarracusio, and soon Wiesenthal was on his way with him to arrest an SS guard named Schmidt. He had to walk up to the second floor of his house to get him. If Schmidt had resisted, the former prisoner would have been in no position to do anything because he was trembling from the exertion of mounting the stairs. He may also have been trembling because of his nervousness about what would happen. But Schmidt was trembling, too, and, after Wiesenthal sat down and caught his breath, the SS man held his arm as he helped him down the stairs.

When they reached the jeep where Captain Tarracusio was waiting, the SS guard cried and pleaded for mercy, arguing that he was both a little fish and had helped many prisoners.

“Yes, you helped the prisoners,” Wiesenthal replied. “I’ve often seen you. You helped them on their way to the crematorium.”

As Wiesenthal told it, this was the beginning to his work as a Nazi hunter. He would never move to Israel, although his daughter, son-in-law, and grandchildren now live there. For him, Israel was the road not taken. But his personal journey involved working with—and, at times, crossing swords with—those in Israel who later sought to bring one of the chief architects of the Holocaust to justice: Adolf Eichmann.

Both Wiesenthal and Friedman claimed that they almost immediately embarked on the hunt for the man who organized the mass deportations of Jews to Auschwitz and other concentration camps. But in the earliest postwar period, the main news concerned those who were already captured or were easier to capture, and their subsequent trials. Nazi hunting—and punishment for the Nazis—was still primarily the job of the victors.



CHAPTER THREE

Common Design

“We’re a very obedient people. It’s our greatest strength and our greatest weakness. It enables us to build an economic miracle while the British are on strike, and it enables us to follow a man like Hitler into a great big mass grave.”

The fictional German magazine publisher Hans Hoffmann in Frederick Forsyth’s 1972 bestselling novel The Odessa File

In the aftermath of Germany’s defeat, most of Hitler’s former subjects were eager to disassociate themselves from the mass murders and atrocities committed in their name. Soldiers of the victorious armies and survivors of the camps routinely encountered Germans who assured them that they had opposed the Nazis all along—not actively, but in their hearts. Many also claimed they had helped Jews and other victims of the Nazi regime. “If all the Jews had been saved that I was told about in those months there would have been more Jews alive at the end of the war than there were when it began,” Wiesenthal dryly noted.

While many Germans were initially dismissive of Nuremberg and other trials as “victors’ justice,” there were also those who found something almost comforting in the notion that the masterminds of Germany’s undoing would be summarily punished. Saul Padover, an Austrian-born historian and political scientist who served in the U.S. Army from Normandy through the advance into Germany, took copious notes on German attitudes. Meeting a young woman who had been a leader of the Bund Deutscher Mädel, the League of German Girls, which was the counterpart of the Hitlerjugend or Hitler Youth for German teenage boys, he recorded in his notebook the conversation with her.

Asked about her role in the league, she “lied,” as Padover wrote, that she was “forced” to be one of its leaders. What did she think should be done with the top Nazis? “For me, you can hang them all,” she replied.

The young woman was hardly alone in her willingness to see some of the Nazi bigwigs pay with their lives, which at the same time helped her distance herself from what had happened. Like many Germans, she maintained that she had not even known about most of the horrors of the Third Reich.

Peter Heidenberger, who had spent the final period of the war with a German parachute division in Italy and then a brief period as a POW, arrived in the town of Dachau shortly after the concentration camp there had been liberated. He was looking for his fiancée, who had fled from their hometown of Dresden after it was bombed on February 13, making her way to friends there. “You know, Dachau is a very nice town; they have a castle there,” he declared, summoning his memories decades later. Walking up the hill to the castle, he was questioned by an American sentry whether he knew what had happened in the camp below. “I told him I hadn’t been there, didn’t know anything [other than] it was a prison camp,” he said. “He didn’t believe me.”

But soon Heidenberger found himself learning much more—more than enough to share the sentiments of the young woman from the League of German Girls. “They should have all been put up against the wall and we would have had more justice,” he said, recalling his initial reaction to what he heard.
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